Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-10-2010

Bratton v. Scott Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36275

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from the February 2, 2009, trial court's order denying the Appellants' (Brattons) Motion for New Trial. The trial commenced on September 3, 2008, and the final verdict was in favor of the Brattons and was rendered on September 16, 2008. Thereafter, Brattons moved for costs as a matter of right. The Scotts moved for JNOV, which, on November 17, 2008, was granted. The Brattons subsequently moved for a new trial, which motion was denied. The Scotts then moved for costs as a matter of right, discretionary costs, and attorney fees, which all were granted in substantial part.

The underlying claim in this matter dealt with the destruction of Brattons' 34-year-old irrigation ditch created by an express irrigation easement. Along with acreage, an easement/right-of-way was conveyed to the Brattons by Harold and Janet Ford (Ford) in the early spring of 1973, and because of the muddy condition of the servient property, the ditch could not be dug until after the conveyance. As soon as the ground conditions permitted, Ford dug a three-foot-wide irrigation ditch and verbally allowed for a permanent 12-foot easement/right-of-way. Brattons added a culvert at either end, as well as cement and galvanized pipe to the ditch to preclude erosion. The Brattons used and maintained the ditch and right-of-way continually from 1973 to April of 2007.

In April 2007, the new owners of the servient estate, John and Jackie Scott (Scotts), began interfering with the Brattons' use of their irrigation ditch. The Scotts were hostile to Mr. Bratton, told him not to spray or burn the easement, not to come onto their property to access

the easement or ditch, also placed no trespassing signs around the easement and ditch/canal headgate, placed a perimeter rope fence containing "No Trespassing" signs, and destroyed the ditch and piping.

The Brattons tried to negotiate with the Scotts and their attorney to have the Scotts stop their interference and replace the ditch. Unfortunately, those negotiations were unsuccessful.

B. Course of Proceedings.

On June 28, 2007, the Brattons filed a complaint for equitable and civil relief to have the ditch replaced. R. Vol. I, pp. 1-17. The Brattons' equitable relief claim was never heard due to the trial court's scheduling issues. The Brattons lost the irrigation season of 2007, and on January 14, 2008, filed an Amended Complaint. R. Vol. I, pp. 94-110. The trial date was set, but vacated on two difference occasions at the request of the Scotts. Tr. Vol. I, p. 102, L. 20 – p. 103, L. 20. A partial summary judgment was granted to the Brattons that provided a judgment affirming the Brattons' express irrigation easement. Tr. Vol. I, p. 61, LL. 11-15. The trial finally commenced on September 3, 2008. Tr. Vol. II, p. 292, LL. 1-10. At the time of the trial, upon motion of the Brattons, the trial court took judicial notice of Idaho Code Sections 42-1101, et seq. and 42-1201, et seq. Tr. Vol. II, p. 311, L. 2 – p. 312, L. 18.

On the eve of trial and over the Brattons' objection, the trial court ordered that the trial be trifurcated. Tr. Vol. I, p. 200, L. 14 - p. 202, L. 1. The first segment would deal with the scope/width of the irrigation easement/right-of-way; the second segment would decide liability; and the third segment would address damages. *Id.* The jury would be impaneled for all three segments, but would be advisory only as to the first segment. *Id.*, p. 249, L. 24 - p. 250, L. 3;

p. 252, LL. 8-11. The trial court emphasized more than once that if the jury did not find for the Brattons on liability, then the damage segment would not be necessary. *Id.*, p. 200, L. 14 – p. 202, L. 1. The jury would render three separate and distinct verdicts following each of the three segments. *Id.*

In the first segment, the trial court, over objections and argument of the Brattons, instructed the jury strictly according to the three elements of implied easement as set out in *Thomas v. Madsen*, 142 Idaho 635, 638, 432 P.3d 392, 395 (2006). Tr. Vol. II, p. 311, L. 2 – P. 312, L. 18. The Brattons argued that the jury should be instructed pursuant to Idaho Code Section 42-1102. Based on the *Madsen* instruction regarding implied easement, the jury found there was no "*Madsen* defined" implied easement. R. Vol. III, pp. 355-56.

The second segment of the trial addressed liability. The jury unanimously found, in pertinent part, that: the Scotts interfered with the Brattons' easement; the Scotts' interference was a proximate cause of harm; the Scotts had changed the Brattons' ditch; and the Scotts did not have written permission to change the ditch. R. Vol. III, pp. 387-91; Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1416, LL. 7-12; p. 1420, LL. 3-17.

The third segment addressed damages. Immediately prior to the third segment, the trial court ruled that the Brattons could not address damage evidence including crop loss and the consequences thereof because the jury had found there was no diminished flow. Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1419, L. 4 – p. 1420, L. 17. The Brattons' damage case had been prepared based upon Idaho Code Sections 42-1102 and 42-1207 in that the destruction of the ditch and interference of the

3

Scotts had caused injury to the Brattons' property activities conducted thereon. *Id.*, p. 1412, L. 23 – p. 1415, L. 21; p. 1420, LL. 3-17.

The Brattons claimed the cost of constructing an underground irrigation system that would essentially replace their 34-year-old system and allow avoidance of the ongoing interference by the Scotts. Tr. Vol. III, p. 608, L. 20 – p. 609, L. 5. The jury had found interference and that interference had caused harm to the Brattons. *Id.*, p. 1396, LL. 1-18. The trial court excluded evidence of a piped ditch, as well as the crop loss and consequences thereto based on Idaho Code Section 42-1207. Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1412, L. 23 – p. 1415, L. 21; p. 1419, L. 4 – p. 1420, L. 17.

The trial court allowed the Brattons' irrigation expert to explain and illustrate replacement of a fully aboveground ditch. Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1453, L. 12 – p. 1454, L. 12. That was all the damage evidence allowed. *Id.* The jury verdict in the third segment was in favor of the Brattons in the amount of \$6,500.00. R. Vol. III, pp. 451-53. Following the third verdict, the Brattons filed a Motion for Costs, which was never heard. R. Vol. IV, pp. 563-67. The Scotts then moved for a JNOV, which was granted. R. Vol. III, pp. 454-55. The Brattons subsequently moved for a new trial, which was denied. R. Vol. IV, pp. 598-600; pp. 651-52. The Scotts filed a motion for costs as a matter of right, discretionary costs, and attorney fees, which was granted in substantial part. R. Vol. III, pp. 498-506; pp. 649-50. A Judgment was entered in favor of the Scotts. R. Vol. IV, pp. 551-53. The Brattons filed this timely appeal. R. Vol. IV, pp. 655-59.

C. Statement of Facts.

In 1973, Ford owned and subsequently divided a tract of land that became the Canyon County Fruitdale Farm Subdivision. Def. Tr. Ex. A; Tr. Vol. II, p. 414, L. 9 – p. 426, L. 8. In doing so, among other divisions, Ford created two adjoining lots, lots number 32 and 40. *Id.* On April 19, 1973, Ford conveyed 32 to the Brattons by way of a Warranty Deed (dominant estate). *Id.*

The Warranty Deed from Ford to the Brattons included a one-half share of water stock held in the Canyon Hill Ditch Company and another one-half share of stock held in Middleton Mill Ditch Company. *Id.* In addition, the Warranty Deed gave an express easement for the construction of a three-foot-wide irrigation ditch, maintenance, as well as rights of ingress and egress onto lot 40 (servient estate). *Id.* The ditch was constructed by Ford as soon as the spring-time ground condition allowed use of a tractor and "V" ditcher. Tr. Vol. II, p. 427, LL. 2-15; p. 441, L. 20 – p. 447 L. 7. The deed reads in pertinent part:

[A]n easement along the boundary line between Lots 39 and 40 of FRUITDALE FARM SUBDIVISION, Section 3, Township 4 North, Range 3 West, Boise Meridian, Canyon County, Idaho, 3 feet in width and of a length of approximately 200 yards along said boundary line between Lots 39 and 40 for the construction and maintenance of an irrigation ditch and for ingress and egress along said ditch boundary line.

Def. Tr. Ex. A; Tr. Vol. II, p. 425, L. 12 – p. 426, L. 2.

In addition to the express deed, Ford orally and by conduct permanently enlarged the easement to 12 feet, which in 2008, Ford testified had been in place since 1973. Tr. Vol. II, p. 425, L. 12 – p. 427, L. 15; p. 459, L. 18 - p. 460, L. 24.

5

The three-foot-wide irrigation ditch traversed lot 40 and was specifically located far enough away from the fence constructed between lots 39 and 40. This placement of the ditch was to protect the integrity of the fence and to allow for installation and maintenance of the ditch. Tr. Vol. II, p. 427, LL. 2-15; p. 453, LL. 16-22. The easement allowed irrigation to the dominant estate, lot 32, which without the ditch would have been landlocked. *Id.*, p. 456, L. 21 – p. 457, L. 23. Because the servient property had a downward drop and westerly slope, the Brattons tiled sections of the irrigation ditch in concrete and galvanized pipe in order to prevent erosion and to also control water flow and volume. *Id.*, p. 444, LL. 18-25; p. 445, L. 13 – p. 447, L. 16.

After the ditch was constructed, the Brattons began their irrigation and corresponding ditch maintenance. *Id.*, p. 441, LL. 13-23; p. 454, LL. 19-23; p. 456, LL. 21- 24. Ford, upon agreement with the Brattons, also used the Brattons' ditch for irrigation of a portion of lot 40, the servient estate. *Id.*, p. 422, LL. 11-19; p. 442, LL. 9-14. Since 1973 and up to 2007, the Brattons enjoyed the use of their ditch and maintained the ditch, depositing dredged spoils adjacent to the ditch. *Id.*, p. 470, LL. 1-5; p. 478, L. 22 – p. 479, L. 15. The Brattons' use and maintenance of the ditch and corresponding ditch easement involved use of a tractor with a "V" ditcher to clean the ditch and to deposit spoils along the ditch banks, the spraying and burning of weeds, and for ingress and egress for irrigation and ditch equipment. *Id.*, p. 470, LL. 1-10. The maintenance, ingress, and egress required a 12-foot easement. *Id.*, p. 425, L. 12 – p. 426, L. 8.

On January 2, 1996, Ford signed a Quitclaim Deed for lot 40 (servient estate) to Lois Rawlinson (Rawlinson). After the 1996 Quitclaim Deed, the Brattons continued the use,

enjoyment, and maintenance of their irrigation ditch and its underlying easement. On September 13, 2005, Rawlinson gift-deeded lot 40 (servient easement) to the Scotts. Pl. Trial Ex. 9; *id.*, p. 462, L. 20 – p. 464, L. 1. This gift deed specifically stated, in pertinent part, that the Scotts take the property:

together with all tenements, hereditaments, water, water rights, ditches, ditch rights, easements and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in anywise appertaining, and subject to any encumbrances or easements as appear of record or by use upon such property.

Id. (emphasis added).

In April 2007, Mr. Bratton followed his normal routine to prepare to receive water for the upcoming irrigation season, by spraying the ditch and easement for weeds. Tr. Vol. II, p. 455, LL. 9-18; Tr. Vol. III, p. 939, L. 17 – p. 940, L. 10. Once the weeds died, as was also his routine, Mr. Bratton accessed his easement and began to burn the dried weeds. *Id.*, Tr. Vol. II, p. 455, L. 19 – p. 456, L. 11; Tr. Vol. III, *id.* During the burning process, the Scotts approached Mr. Bratton in a hostile manner and demanded that he stop burning, that he never again spray or burn the easement, and that he leave the servient property. Tr. Vol. III, p. 941, L. 8 – p. 942, L. 17; *id.*, p. 943, LL. 12-21. During the trial, the Scotts agreed that they approached Mr. Bratton and told him not to burn or spray the irrigation ditch or the area adjacent thereto. *Id.*, p. 863, L. 23 – p. 864, L. 11.

Within days of the above encounter, the Scotts placed "No Trespassing" signs on the boundary line between lots 32 (dominant estate) and 40 (servient estate) at the point of the Brattons' ingress. Tr. Vol. III, p. 966, LL. 1-23. The Scotts also placed "No Trespassing" signs

7

near Brattons' canal headgate. *Id.* On a second encounter, the Scotts acted in a hostile manner to prevent Mr. Bratton from ingress of his easement. *Id.*, p. 951, L. 16 – p. 952, L. 12.

Mr. Bratton was just beginning to go onto his easement when Mr. Scott came running after him and shouting at Bratton. *Id.*, p. 941, L. 11 – p. 942, L. 11. Mr. Bratton backed away from the easement and did not access water. *Id.*, p. 943, LL. 12-21; p. 951, L. 16 – p. 952, L. 12. Soon thereafter, when Mr. Bratton was away from his property, and without permission from the Brattons, the Scotts leveled the 34-year-old ditch, destroyed the galvanized pipe, and removed the cement piping. *Id.*, p. 883, LL. 18-23; p. 953, L. 5 – p. 954, L. 1. After the ditch was destroyed, Mr. Bratton called the police and unsuccessfully attempted, via negotiations, to require the Scotts to replace the 34-year-old ditch, piping, and to stop interfering with the easement. *Id.*, p. 947, LL. 5-7; p. 954, LL. 5-13. The Brattons also tried, without success, to mediate the issue through counsel. *Id.*, p. 956, L. 17 – p. 957, L. 12.

The Brattons were without irrigation water during the 2007 and 2008 irrigation seasons because of the destruction of their ditch and because of repeated interference by the Scotts. *Id.*, p. 996, LL. 9-24.

II. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This appeal addresses the trial court's grant of Scotts' motion for judgment n.o.v., as well as the trial court's denial of the Brattons' Motion for New Trial. On appeal of a motion for judgment n.o.v. and a motion for new trial, the appellate court applies distinct standards for each.

8

The standard of review for a judgment n.o.v. is a question of law and has been articulated by this Court:

In determining whether a directed verdict or judgment n.o.v. should have been granted, the appellate court applies the same standard as does the trial court which passed on the motion originally.

Quick v. Crane, 111 Idaho 759, 727 P.2d 1187 (1986).

In contrast, the appellate standard of review for new trial addresses the question of whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion. This Court has set forth the review standard as follows:

On appeal, we [the Supreme Court] will not reverse a trial court's order granting or denying a motion for new trial "unless the court has manifestly abused the wide discretion vested in it." [Citation omitted.] "While we [the Supreme Court] must review the evidence, we are not in a position to 'weigh' it as the trial court."

Jones v. Panhandle Distribs., Inc., 117 Idaho 750, 792 P.2d 315 (1990).

B. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Ruling in Favor of the Scotts' Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict as to the Verdict for Damages.

The Scotts' motion for judgment n.o.v. involved only the verdict in the third segment, damages. As stated, *supra*, the function of I.R.C.P. 50(b) is "to give the trial court the last opportunity to order the judgment that the law requires." *Quick v. Crane*, 111 Idaho 759, 764, 727 P.2d 1187, 1192 (1986). In determining whether a judgment not withstanding the verdict should have been granted, the Idaho Appellate Court applies "the same standard as does the trial court" *Quick*, 111 Idaho at 763, 727 P.2d at 1191. The question of whether a verdict should have been directed "is purely a question of law," and in such matters, the "parties are entitled to a full review by the appellate court without special deference to the views of the trial

court." *Id.* at 764. This court is obligated to review the record of the trial below and determine if there was "substantial evidence to justify submitting the case to the jury." *Id.* The question is "not whether there is literally no evidence supporting the party against whom the motion is made, but whether there is substantial evidence upon which the jury could properly find a verdict for that party." *Quick*, 111 Idaho at 773, citation omitted.

1. Damage verdict.

In moving for judgment not withstanding the verdict, the movant admits the truth of the adversary's evidence and every legitimate inference that could be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See, e.g., id., Quick at 763, and Smith v. Big Lost River Irrigation Dist., 83 Idaho 374, 391 (1961). Therefore, the trial judge is **not permitted** to weigh the evidence or pass on the credibility of the witnesses and make his or her own separate findings of fact for comparison with those of the jury. Id., Quick at 763 (citation omitted, emphasis added). Moreover, the trial court should not take a case from the jury unless, as a matter of law, no recovery could be had upon any view which properly could be taken of the evidence. Smith, 83 Idaho at 391, citing Stearns v. Graves, 62 Idaho 312 (1941). This is particularly true of motions implicating findings of proximate cause. Fouche v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 107 Idaho 701, 704 (1984) (citation omitted, emphasis added). As is of record, the second verdict on proximate cause was a unanimous verdict, which allowed the trial to commence to the third segment on damages. The Brattons prevailed as to the verdict on damages.

2. Jury's common knowledge.

In this matter, the jury was well versed in irrigation ditches and the costs associated. As the Idaho Supreme Court and the Idaho Court of Appeals have both confirmed, it is the very nature of the jury process for jurors to bring with them into the jury room their general life experiences, and a sense of what is and is not reasonable in light of those experiences and in light of the facts before them. *See Quick*, 111 Idaho at 765; *see also Smith v. Praegitzer*, 113 Idaho 887, 890 (Ct. App. 1988). Consequently, when considering trial evidence and reaching a verdict, jurors are permitted and expected to take into account matters of common knowledge and experience. *State v. Espinoza*, 133 Idaho 618, 622 (Ct. App. 1999). In other words, in this matter, the members of this jury, when reaching a verdict, are permitted to apply their own experience and their own common knowledge.

Damage awards, particularly damage awards in tort actions, are primarily a question for the jury. See Gonzales v. Hodson, 91 Idaho 330, 334 (1966); see also Bentzinger v. McMurtrey, 100 Idaho 273, 274 (1979).

This is because "[d]amages are susceptible to proof only with an approximation of certainty..." See Shrum v. Wakimoto, 70 Idaho 252, 256 (1950) (citation omitted, emphasis added); see also Gonzales and Bentzinger, supra. As a result, it is solely for the jury to estimate damages as best they can by reasonable probabilities, and based upon their sound judgment as to what would be just and proper under all of the circumstances. Shrum, 70 Idaho at 256, quoting Gorton v. Doty, 57 Idaho 792 (1937). Jury verdicts are not to be disturbed absent a showing of bias or prejudice. Id. (emphasis added).

In this matter, during voir dire, the trial court learned that the jury was very versed in water rights, ditches, pastures, hay, etc. Juror Number 540 had experience driving large equipment, digging ditches, and laying pipe; Juror Number 542 had experience with irrigation, driving large equipment, digging ditches, and laying pipe, experience with plants and weeds in Idaho, owned rural property, and owned horses; Juror Number 544 had experience driving large equipment and owned rural property; Juror Number 548 had experience driving large equipment and had owned horses; Juror Number 549 had experience with irrigation, pastures, and hay, owning acreage, driving large equipment, digging ditches and laying pipe, and owned horses and livestock; Juror Number 557 owned rural property; Juror Number 559 had experience driving large equipment and owned rural property; Juror Number 572 had experience driving large equipment, digging ditches, laying pipe, and owned rural property; and Juror Number 586 had experience driving large equipment, had been involved in property disputes, and owned rural acreage and horses. Based on the collective common experience of the jury, even though the trial court excluded the cost of the ditch and pipe replacement, this jury used that collection of common experience to arrive at a reasonable verdict based on what evidence the trial court did allow.

- 3. The district court erred by not following law of the state of Idaho as set forth by Idaho Code Sections 42-1101, et seq. and 42-1201, et seq.
 - a. Notice pleading.

Importantly, the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure establish a system of notice pleading.

Under this system of pleading, a plaintiff does not need to include a great deal of particularity in a complaint. Rather, a plaintiff only needs to allege facts and claims sufficient for a defendant to

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