# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-8-2010

# Bratton v. Scott Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36275

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

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. The District Court Properly Granted the Scotts' Motion for Directed Verdict.

The Brattons first challenge the district court's grant of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, arguing this ruling constitutes an abuse of discretion. This Court must therefore determine whether there was substantial evidence presented by the Brattons during the damages phase of the trial to support the jury's verdict award of damages in the amount of \$6,500.00.

#### 1. Damages Must Be Proven To A Reasonable Certainty.

Idaho courts have held that a person asserting a claim for damages has the burden of proving not only a right to damages, but also the *amount* of damages. *Martsch v. Nelson*, 109 Idaho 95, 100, 705 P.2d 1050, 1055 (Ct. App. 1985) (emphasis added) (citing *Beare v.* 

Stowe's Builders Supply, Inc., 104 Idaho 317, 321, 658 P.2d 988, 992 (Ct. App. 1983)).. Further, the amount of damages must be supported by substantial evidence and not based upon mere conjecture. *Id.*; (citing *Alper v. Stillings*, 389 P.2d 239 (Nev. 1964)). The evidence must be of sufficient quality and probative value that the trier of fact could reasonably conclude that an award of such amount was proper. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Where the only proof presented on the amount of damages requires that the trier of fact make a "blind guess" as to the amount of damages or loss involved, an award of damages is not proper. *See Beare*, 104 Idaho at 321, 658 P.2d at 992; (citing *Call v. Coiner*, 43 Idaho 320, 251 P. 617 (1926); *see also, e.g., Powell v. Sellers*, 130 Idaho 122, 937 P.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1997) (upholding the award of damages where the plaintiffs presented evidence of bids reflecting the amount to repair the ditch and the amount and value of trees that had been damaged). Similarly, the amount of damages must be established to a reasonable degree of certainty. *See Sells v. Robinson*, 141 Idaho 767, 774, 772 P.3d 99, 106 (2005).

In its Special Verdict Form, the jury awarded the Brattons the sum of \$2,250.00 in damages to restore the ditch to its original state. (R., p. 451-452). The jury also awarded the Brattons damages in the sum of \$4,250.00 for the Scotts' actions of allegedly changing the irrigation ditch without written permission. These awards are discussed separately as follows.

2.

#### The Brattons Completely Failed To Meet Their Burden Of Proof At Trial Regarding Damages For Moving The Ditch.

Following the jury's Special Verdict following phase two of the trial, the only claim remaining during the damages phase of the trial was for negligent interference and changing the ditch without written permission. The Brattons lost their claims for infliction of

emotional distress and interference with the right of privacy. In addition, the jury specifically found that the Scotts' alleged actions had not resulted in a diminished water flow through the irrigation ditch. (R. pp. 439-442). Thus, the jury found no liability on the part of the Scotts with respect to the Brattons' claim for breach of privacy and interference by threat of harm. The jury found that the Scotts were negligent, but the negligence did not cause an impediment to the water flow in the ditch. The Brattons were left solely with recovery of damages for repair of their property, or more specifically moving the ditch back to the location they claimed it was in.

During the damages phase of the trial, the Brattons presented evidence with respect to the installation and maintenance of an above-ground ditch. However, the Brattons presented absolutely no evidence with respect to what this would cost. (TR. Vol. IV, pp. 1466-1484, 1495-1504). For example, there was no evidence presented to the jury with respect to how much the materials would cost, what the labor rate was for installation, the amount of time it would take, etc. The reason this crucial evidence was not presented is because it had not been disclosed in discovery and the district court therefore appropriately ruled that it could not be presented at trial. In other words, because the Brattons had not disclosed in discovery what repairing the ditch would cost, nor hired an expert to opine on these costs or disclosed a lay witness to testify regarding the actual cost of repairing the alleged injury to their property, the Brattons were precluded by the district court from presenting such evidence during the damages phase of the trial. The district court reasoned as follows:

So that gives me guidance in what I have to decide here today. I have to view all of the evidence and all of the inferences drawn therefrom in favor of the nonmoving party, and I had to go back and look at the verdict forms which said there had been an inference and there had been – that the Scotts had taken action without written permission. And then I have to

look if there's substantial evidence to justify submitting the case to the jury, or, as they say, "in other words, that there can be one conclusion as to the verdict that reasonable minds could have reached."

And the discovery issue that I mentioned earlier was really the reason - I heard no estimates, no bids, no dollar amounts, no time, no materials. I did hear testimony that it would cost to move the ditch back where it was or to move it so it could be maintained, but I never heard a dollar amount.

(Tr, Vol V, pp. 1576-1577).

On appeal, the Appellants do not appear to be challenging the ruling to exclude this evidence, but are claiming that the jury was able to award damages in its absence. Appellants point the Court to *Smith v. Big Lost River*, 83 Idaho 374, 392, 364 P.2d 146 (1961), and argue the jury had a first hand opportunity to view the evidence. (App. Brief, p. 31) The *Smith* case does not involve a challenge to the amount of a damages award, but rather to the determination of the cause of damages. *Id.* Moreover, the court in *Smith* noted that "[t]he record of evidence introduced is voluminous" and "expert witnesses testified at length." *Id.* 

Appellants also point the Court to several cases which stand for the basic proposition that damages awards are to be left to the purview of the jury, which can use their sound judgment. (App. Brief, p. 11), (citing *Shrum v. Wakimoto*, 70 Idaho 252, 256, 215 P.2d 991 (1950); *Gonzales v. Hodson*, 91 Idaho 330 (1966)). Yet none of these cases stand for the proposition that a plaintiff can simply ask the jury to award it damages to repair its property without any evidence whatsoever on what a reasonable cost would be for the repair, which is essentially what happened in phase three of the trial.

The only way the jury would have been able to award a dollar amount to the Brattons was through "guessing" or "speculating" what this might cost. This is improper. *See Beare*,

104 Idaho at 32, 658 P.2d at 992. The district court therefore correctly set aside the damages verdict as follows:

I conclude that the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on damages is hereby granted. And I base that on Watson, 121 Idaho at 659. 'There can be but one conclusion as to the verdict that reasonable minds could have reached, and when the conclusion does not conform to the jury verdict, then the court can entertain the judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The function of a JNOV is to give this court the last opportunity to order the judgment that the law requires.'

I conclude that without estimates, bids, monetary amounts, time, materials, that the jury could not have concluded the amount of damages that they did and that they were making estimates.

(Tr, Vol. V, pp. 1579-1580).

3.

#### The Award of Damages For Failure To Obtain Written Permission To Change The Ditch Was Not Supported By The Evidence.

The jury also placed an arbitrary number of \$4,250.00 in damages as a result of the Scotts' failure to obtain written permission prior to the alleged move of the ditch. This award was not supported by the law. The written permission requirement is found in Idaho Code § 42-1207, which was included, in part, in Jury Instruction No. 24 given to the jury. Under *Allen v. Burggraff Construction Co.*, 106 Idaho 451, 680 P.2d 873 (1984), before recovery can be had based upon negligence or violation of Section 42-1207, the landowners are "required to show that relocation of the ditch actually caused a diminished flow of water to their properties." *Id.* At 452, 680 P.2d at 874. The court in *Allen* went on to state that "[p]roof of causation is essential to invoke the statute." *Id.* Thus, unless the Brattons were able to show an impeded water flow, they could not establish *causation* as a matter of law. If unable to establish causation in a negligence action, or action under Section 42-1207, no

In Weaver v. Stafford, 134 Idaho 691, 8 P.3d 1234 (2000), this Court held that the plaintiff could not recover any damages under Section 42-1207 of the Idaho Code because he failed to introduce any evidence of the historic flow rate of water to his property before and after the changes to the lateral ditch. *Id.* At 700, 8 P.3d at 1243. The Court noted that Section 42-1207 prohibits altering an irrigation ditch "in a manner which impedes the flow of water." *Id.* Thus, as a matter of law, the Brattons could not satisfy the causation element of their negligence action unless they could show impeded water flow. Not only did they fail to do so, the jury specifically found that the water flow had not been impeded.

The district court below indicated during previous argument that it would be proper for the jury to award nominal damages under Section 42-1207 in the absence of actual damages, if the Scotts failed to obtain written permission to change the ditch, and therefore allowed the Plaintiffs to proceed to the damages phase of the trial on this issue. Yet after the jury verdict the district court determined an award of \$4,250.00 in damages was not nominal. (Tr, Vol. V, pp. 1580-1581). The district court therefore correctly reversed this award of damages and granted the Scotts a judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Appellants argue that Section 42-1207 allows for damages, without limitation, if there was impeded water flow *or if the ditch was changed*. (App. Brief, p. 39). Yet the plain language of the statute does not support this argument. Section 42-1207 provides that when a ditch has been constructed across or beneath another's land, "the person or persons owning or controlling said land shall have the right at their own expense to change said ditch . . . to any other part of said land, but such change must be made in such a manner as not to impede the flow of the water therein, or to otherwise injure any person or persons using or interested in such ditch, canal . . .." I.C. § 42-1207. The remainder of the statute discusses the

65685-0001/LEGAL18008161.1

landowner's right to bury the ditch if certain conditions are met. *Id.* The statute makes clear that written permission of the ditch owner must be obtained before it is changed or buried by the landowner. *Id.* 

The statute therefore does not state that the ditch owner is allowed recovery for harm if the ditch was changed without permission. It does not relieve the Brattons from their duty to prove causation, especially when read in light of this Court's opinion in *Weaver v*. *Stafford, supra.*, wherein the Court made clear that absent evidence of a reduction in water flow the plaintiff could not recover under Section 42-1207. 134 Idaho at 699, 8 P.3d at 1242.

#### B. The District Court Applied The Correct Legal Standard To Appellant's Claim For An Implied Easement.

Appellants argue that the district court erred when it ruled that Section 42-1102 of the Idaho Code did not apply to the Brattons' claim for an expanded easement of 12 feet in width, and thereafter declined to instruct the jury on this statute. (App. Brief, pp. 18-19, 35-37). Similarly, the Brattons take issue with the district court's decision to apply the law of implied easements by prior use as set forth in *Thomas v. Madsen*, 142 Idaho 635, 132 P.3d 392 (2006), and instruct the jury accordingly. The Brattons instead insist that the proper legal standard to apply to their claim for an expanded easement of 12 feet in width is found in Idaho Code § 42-1102.

At the outset it is important to note that the issue presented to the jury in phase one of the trial was for the purposes of an advisory verdict only. The district court had ruled that this issue was one for the court to make the ultimate determination because the Brattons had specifically plead their implied easement claim as an injunctive claim and requested declaratory and injunctive relief only in the Complaint. (R. pp. 1-9; Tr., Vol. I, 246 – 252).

After hearing the evidence, the jury found that the Brattons had not proven a 12 foot implied easement or right of way of 12 feet, and the district court ruled in the same manner.

#### 1. The District Court Applied The Correct Legal Standards To The Brattons' Claim For An Expanded 12 Foot Easement.

For the very first time, a mere day or so before trial, the Brattons cited and argued the applicability of Idaho Code § 42-1102, arguing that this statute controls their claim for an implied 12-foot easement. The Brattons then took this position throughout the trial, urging the district court to ignore the well settled caselaw regarding implied easements as set forth in *Thomas v. Madsen*, 142 Idaho 635, 132 P.2d 392 (2006). *See also, e.g., Beitzel v. Orton*, 121 Idaho 709, 827 P.2d 1160 (1992).

First, Appellants' Amended Complaint asserts a claim for an implied easement and at no point mentions a claimed right of way pursuant to statute. (R. pp. 1-9). Appellants also moved for summary judgment on their claim of implied easement, arguing the elements set forth in *Thomas*, which was denied. (R. pp. 47-60). Thus, throughout the duration of the lawsuit, Plaintiffs sought to expand the scope of the undisputed written easement through the legal doctrine of implied easement from prior use.

After the Brattons raised the applicability of Section 42-1102, in addition to several other statutes discussing irrigation water, the district court ruled that the law of implied easements could not be ignored, and the court would proceed to instruct the jury and consider the elements required by this Court to establish an implied easement by prior use, as had been plead in the Brattons' Complaint. The district court did, however, instruct the jury on Section 42-1207 of the Idaho Code. (*See* Jury Instruction No. 10, R, p. 407). This instruction was given following both phases one and two of the trial. (Id., Tr, p. 420). This instruction contained direct quotes from Section 42-1204 as follows:

The owners or constructors of ditches, canals, works or other aqueducts and their successors in interest, using and employing the same to convey the waters of any stream or spring, whether the said ditches, canals, works or aqueducts be upon the lands owned or claimed by them, or upon other lands, must carefully keep and maintain the same, and the embankments, flumes or other conduits, by which such waters are or may be conducted, in good repair and condition, so as not to damage or in any way injure the property or premises of others. The owners or constructors have the right to enter the land across which the right-of-way extends, for the purposes of cleaning, maintaining and repairing the ditch, canal or conduit, and to occupy such width of the land along the banks of the ditch, canal or conduit as is necessary to properly do the work of cleaning, maintaining and repairing the ditch, canal or conduit with personnel and with such equipment as is commonly used, or is reasonably adapted, to that work.

(R, p. 407, Idaho Code § 42-1204). The jury was therefore instructed following phase one of the trial that the owners of a ditch have the right to enter land for the purposes of cleaning, maintaining and repairing the ditch. This language is similar to that found in Section 42-1102, which was requested by the Brattons. The jury was therefore adequately instructed on both the statutory laws regarding rights-of-way for irrigation ditches and the law of implied easements found in *Thomas*. Moreover, the jury instructions given in phase one of the trial were to help the jury render an advisory verdict only. Thus, any error in instructing the jury during phase one of the trial constitutes harmless error as the district court made the ultimate determination on the scope and width of the Brattons' easement, as was specifically requested in the Complaint by the Brattons.

Finally, Idaho Code § 42-1102 is inapplicable in this case based upon the plain language of the statute. Section 42-1102 provides rights-of-way for irrigation rights and reads as follows:

When any such owners or claimants to land have not sufficient length of frontage on a stream to afford the requisite fall for a ditch, canal or other conduit on their own premises for the proper irrigation thereof, or where the land proposed to be irrigated is back from the banks of such stream, and convenient facilities otherwise for the water of said lands cannot be had, such owners or claimants are entitled to a right-of-way through the lands of others, for the purposes of irrigation. . . .

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